
Y Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes 
 

Lleoliad: 
Ystafell Bwyllgora 3 - y Senedd 

 

 

 

Dyddiad: 
Dydd Iau, 29 Tachwedd 2012  

 

Amser: 
09:00 

 

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth, cysylltwch â:  

Siân Phipps 
Clerc y Pwyllgor 
029 2089 8582 
Pwllygor.Menter@cymru.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 
 

 

Cyfarfod preifat cyn y prif gyfarfod (09:00 - 09:20) 

1. Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon   

2. Cynnig i sefydlu is-bwyllgor ar gyfer Rheoliadau Mangreoedd etc 
Di-fwg (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2012 (09.20 - 09:25) (Tudalennau 1 - 4) 

3. Ymchwiliad i Drafnidiaeth Gyhoeddus Integredig - Sesiwn 
Dystiolaeth (09:25 - 10:15) (Tudalennau 5 - 28)  
 
Canolfan Ymchwil Trafnidiaeth Cymru 
 
Yr Athro Stuart Cole CBE, Athro Emeritws ym maes Trafnidiaeth, Canolfan Ymchwil 
Trafnidiaeth Cymru, Prifysgol Morgannwg  

4. Ymchwiliad i Drafnidiaeth Gyhoeddus Integredig - Sesiwn 
Dystiolaeth (10:15 - 11:00) (Tudalennau 29 - 39)  
 
Cymdeithas Swyddogion Cydgysylltu Trafnidiaeth Cymru 
 
Richard Cope, Rheolwr yr Uned Trafndiaeth i Deithwyr, Cyngor Sir Fynwy 
 
Tracey Mcadam, Rheolwr yr Uned Trafnidiaeth Integredig, Cyngor Dinas Casnewydd 
 
Hubert Mathias, Rheolwr Trafnidiaeth a Fflyd, Cyngor Sir Penfro  

Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus



5. Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y 
cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod am weddill y busnes (11:00)  

6. Trafodaeth breifat (11:00 - 11:15)  



Cynnig i sefydlu is-bwyllgor y Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes o dan Reol 

Sefydlog 17.17 

Bod y Pwyllgor yn penderfynu, o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.17, sefydlu is-bwyllgor 

i gymryd tystiolaeth ar y Rheoliadau Mangreoedd etc. Di-fwg (Cymru) 

(Diwygio) 2012; 

mai cylch gwaith yr is-bwyllgor hwnnw yw cymryd tystiolaeth, ar y cyd â’r is-

bwyllgor a sefydlwyd gan y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol ar y 

Rheoliadau Mangreoedd etc. Di-fwg (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2012. Bydd yr is-

bwyllgor yn ceisio cytuno ar gynnwys adroddiad a lunnir ar y cyd â’r Is-

bwyllgor a sefydlwyd gan y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol er mwyn 

llywio trafodaethau’r Cynulliad ar y rheoliadau. Bydd yr Is-bwyllgor yn cael 

ei ddiddymu unwaith y bydd trafodaeth wedi’i chynnal ar y rheoliadau yn y 

Cyfarfod Llawn; 

 

bod aelodaeth yr is-bwyllgor yn cynnwys Alun Ffred Jones, Eluned Parrott, 

Nick Ramsay, David Rees, Ken Skates, gyda Nick Ramsay wedi’i ethol yn 

Gadeirydd.  

 

Eitem 2

Tudalen 1



 

 

Nodyn Gweithdrefnol i’r Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes – E&B(4)-37-12  

Cynnig i sefydlu is-bwyllgor i ystyried Rheoliadau Mangreoedd etc. Di-fwg 

(Cymru) (Diwygio) 2012 

1. Mae Aelodau yn ymwybodol o ohebiaeth gan y Gweinidog Cyllid ac Arweinydd y 

Tŷ sy’n gofyn i Gadeiryddion y Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes a’r Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal 

Cymdeithasol i drafod tystiolaeth bellach ar Reoliadau Mangreoedd etc. Di-fwg 

(Cymru) (Diwygio) 2012.  

Cefndir 
 
2. Cafodd Rheoliadau Mangreoedd etc. Di-fwg (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2012 eu gosod 

ddydd Mercher 18 Gorffennaf 2012. Mae’r ddadl ar y rheoliadau hyn wedi cael ei 

gohirio fel y gall y Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes a’r Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal 

Cymdeithasol drafod y dystiolaeth unwaith eto.  

3. Mae’r Gweinidog Cyllid ac Arweinydd y Tŷ wedi gwahodd y ddau Bwyllgor i gwrdd 

mewn sesiwn gyda’i gilydd i gymryd tystiolaeth a chhoeddi un adroddiad ar eu 

canfyddiadau. Nid yw’r Rheolau Sefydlog yn darparu ar gyfer sefydlu cyd-bwyllgor 

nac yn caniatàu i bwyllgorau gyfarfod ar y cyd. Fodd bynnag, o dan Reol Sefydlog 

17.53, gall pwyllgorau’r Cynulliad gydredeg. Yn ymarferol, mae hyn yn galluogi 

mwy nag un pwyllgor i glywed yr un dystiolaeth tra byddant yn parhau i gael eu 

creu fel endidau ar wahân.  

4. Mae’r ddau bwyllgor wedi cytuno1 i wneud y gwaith hwn ar yr un pryd ac nad 

yw’n ymarferol nac yn gymesur disgwyl i’r 20 Aelod gymryd rhan. Gwahoddwyd y 

ddau bwyllgor, heddiw, i sefydlu is-bwyllgorau gyda phum aelod yr un. Bydd y ddau 

is-bwyllgor yn cydweithio i chwilio am dystiolaeth ac yn cyhoeddi eu canfyddiadau 

mewn un adroddiad. Bydd yr is-bwyllgorau’n cael eu diddymu ar ôl i’r rheoliadau 

gael eu hystyried gan y Cynulliad yn y Cyfarfod Llawn. 

5. Mae Rheol Sefydlog 17.17 yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol bod yn rhaid i benderfyniad i 

sefydlu is-bwyllgor bennu ei aelodaeth, ei gadeirydd, ei gylch gorchwyl a’i gyfnod. 

Cam i’w gymryd 

6. Gwahoddir y Pwyllgor i gytuno ar y cynnig a ganlyn: 

Bod y Pwyllgor yn penderfynu, o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.17, sefydlu is-bwyllgor i 

gymryd tystiolaeth ar Reoliadau Mangreoedd etc. Di-fwg (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2012; 

mai cylch gwaith yr is-bwyllgor hwnnw yw cymryd tystiolaeth, ar yr un pryd â’r is-

bwyllgor a sefydlwyd gan y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol ar Reoliadau 

Mangreoedd etc. Di-fwg (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2012.  Bydd yr is-bwyllgor yn ceisio 

cytuno ar gynnwys adroddiad a lunnir ar y cyd â’r is-bwyllgor a sefydlwyd gan y 

Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol er mwyn llywio trafodaethau’r Cynulliad ar y 

rheoliadau. Bydd yr Is-bwyllgor yn cael ei ddiddymu unwaith y bydd y Cynulliad 

                                                           
1 Ystyriodd y ddau bwyllgor y mater ar 17 Hydref 2012. 

Tudalen 2



 

 

wedi trafod y rheoliadau yn y Cyfarfod Llawn;  

 

bod aelodaeth yr is-bwyllgor yn cynnwys Alun Ffred Jones, Eluned Parrot, Nick 

Ramsay, David Rees, Ken Skates, gyda Nick Ramsay wedi’i ethol yn Gadeirydd.  

 

Cwestiynau cyffredin: 
 
Pam mae dau is-bwyllgor yn cael eu sefydlu? 
 
Gweler paragraffau 3 a 4 uchod.  
 
Pam yr ymgynghorwyd â’r grwpiau plaid ynghylch yr enwebiadau ar gyfer yr 
is-bwyllgorau? 
 
Nid oes gofyniad o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.17 i is-bwyllgorau adlewyrchu’r 
cydbwysedd rhwng y pleidiau, a mater i’r ddau bwyllgor perthnasol yw penderfynu 
ar aelodaeth a chadeiryddion yr is-bwyllgorau. Fodd bynnag, oherwydd natur y 
gwaith craffu ar y cyd, a darpariaethau Rheol Sefydlog 17 mewn perthynas â’r 
cydbwysedd rhwng y grwpiau gwleidyddol, gwahoddwyd y grwpiau i enwebu 
aelodau ar gyfer yr is-bwyllgorau sydd â phum aelod yr un mewn ffordd a fydd yn 
arwain at gydbwysedd pleidiol (hynny yw, pum aelod Llafur, dau aelod o’r 
Ceidwadwyr Cymreig, dau aelod Plaid Cymru ac un aelod o’r Democratiaid 
Rhyddfrydol). Mae’r grwpiau bellach wedi hysbysu’r clercod ynghylch yr enwebiadau 
ar gyfer y ddau is-bwyllgor. 

Pam mae’r ddau bwyllgor yn ethol cadeiryddion yr is-bwyllgorau? 
 
Bydd y ddau is-bwyllgor sydd â phum aelod yr un yn endidau ar wahân a bydd y 
naill a’r llall yn adrodd yn ôl i’w riant-bwyllgor. Gan hynny, bydd gan y ddau is-
bwyllgor eu cadeiryddion eu hunain, fel sy’n ofynnol o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.17. 
 
Pwy fydd yn cadeirio cyfarfodydd y ddau is-bwyllgor sy’n cydredeg? 
 
Mater i gadeiryddion y ddau is-bwyllgor fydd penderfynu ymysg ei gilydd pwy sy’n 
cadeirio’r cyfarfodydd sy’n cydredeg, a hysbysu’r clercod ynghylch hynny. Bydd 
Cadeiryddion yr is-bwyllgorau a enwebyd yn cadeirio’r cyfarfodydd sy’n cydredeg 
am yn ail, a hynny ar sail eu penderfyniad hwy. 
 
Sut y cytunir ar ganlyniadau’r cyfarfodydd sy’n cydredeg? 
 
Y 10 aelod fydd yn penderfynu ar ganlyniadau’r cyfarfodydd sy’n cydredeg pan 
fyddant yn cwrdd. Bydd unrhyw adroddiadau yn cael eu cyfeirio yn ôl i’w rhiant-
bwyllgor i’w gadarnhau yn unol â Rheol Sefydlog 17.19. 
 
Beth yw’r amserlen ar gyfer y gwaith? 
 
Bydd y ddau is-bwyllgor yn cwrdd ar yr un pryd ddydd Mercher 5 Rhagfyr i drafod y 
cylch gorchwyl, ymgynghoriad ysgrifenedig, rhestr o dystion ac amserlen dros dro, 
ac i gytuno arnynt. Mewn llythyr, dyddiedig 5 Tachwedd, nododd y Gweinidog, o 
ystyried faint o ddiddordeb a ddangoswyd yn yr ymchwiliad o fewn y Senedd, a thu 

Tudalen 3



 

 

hwnt, y byddai’n ddefnyddiol iawn cwblhau’r gwaith cyn gynted â phosibl. Caiff yr 
holl gyfnodau sydd ar gael yn yr amserlen fusnes eu hystyried yn gyfnodau posibl 
i’r is-bwyllgorau gymryd tystiolaeth a chytuno ar adroddiad cyn gynted â phosibl yn 
ystod tymor y gwanwyn.  
 
Y Gwasanaeth Pwyllgorau  
29 Tachwedd 2012 

---- 

 

Tudalen 4



1 

 

NAfW IntegPublicTrans brief Oct 2012 v5 

CYNULLIAD CENEDLAETHOL CYMRU 

PWLLGOR MENTER A BUSNES 

YMCHWILIAD I DRAFNIDIAETH GYHOEDDUS INTEGREDIG TACHWEDD 2012 

 

NATIONAL ASSEMBLY FOR WALES 

ENTERPRISE AND BUSINESS COMMITTEE 

INTEGRATED PUBLIC TRANSPORT INQUIRY NOVEMBER 2012 

 

Papur Ymgynghorol gan Yr Athro Stuart Cole CBE, Athro Emeritus mewn 

Trafnidiaeth, Canolfan Ymchwil Trafnidiaeth Cymru, Prifysgol Cymru 

Briefing paper by Professor Stuart Cole CBE, Emeritus Professor of Transport, 

Wales Transport Research Centre, University of Glamorgan 

 

OVERVIEW 

This paper responds to the primary issues raised by the Committee in its call for 

evidence. Each of the key issues is covered in turn. But first, the extent of the 

evidence is outlined. 

There has been considerable discussion about an integrated transport policy; but 

what does it mean and what does it have to integrate? 

Logistics and supply chain management facilitates operational freight integration to 

achieve commercial objectives and the most efficient means of moving good 

There is no similar framework on the passenger side where there exists four policy 

and operational aspects to integrate (although only (1) and (2) concern this call for 

evidence: 

1. Integration within and between different types of transport - better and easier 
interchange between car/bus/rail etc. with better information on services and 
availability of integrated tickets. The same applies between public and private 
transport, between motorised and non-motorised (walking, cycling) transport and  
within public transport  

 
2. Integration with land use planning - to reduce the need for travel and to ensure 

new developments can be reached by public transport. This includes existing and 
planned future land development such as housing, leisure / sport / entertainment, 
retail shopping and commercial / industrial employment.  
 

3. Integration with the environment - considering the effect of transport policies on 
the environment and selecting the most environmentally friendly solution 
whenever possible. 

Eitem 3

Tudalen 5



2 

 

 

4. Integration with policies on social welfare, education, health and wealth-creation 
so that cross-cutting policies on issues such as social inclusion, school travel, 
cycling and walking, and the profitability of business work together rather than 
against each other. 
 

INTEGRATION WITH LAND USE PLANNING 

The integration of transport and land use forms the basis of further analysis of the 

integration of the modes of transport. Land use represents the activities of the 

travelling public and is therefore the underlying reason for people movement. It is 

the public’s need to move between home and work, employment education and 

entertainment which create traffic and public transport use. 

It is important therefore to consider the planning control regime operated by local 

authorities thorough the Local Development Plans (LDP) currently being 

considered and the development control procedures (popularly referred to as 

‘planning permission’) for all future construction. 

Often new housing developments or shopping centres in particular those out of 

town) are built with little or no consideration for public transport use. For example, 

the Parc Trostre and Parc Pemberton shopping developments in Llanelli had, but 

after considerable pressure bus priority and bus operations which made them 

public transport accessible.  

More recently four proposed housing sites in Cardiff comprising between then 

20,000 houses are adjacent to the M4 Motorway and therefore well suited for 

those for whom that is the primary route. However the LDP inspector’s review 

has to contain a requirement to provide under a Section 106 agreement, public 

transport links into Cardiff centre. These could include a busway leading into the 

A48 bus priority provision; new park and ride facilities at Lisvane and Llanishen; 

reopening of the Fairwater to Creigiau railway line (for which  most of the 

formation remains)  with appropriate sized park and ride parking areas to match 

the expected demand.  

While on one side the local authority has housing targets which it is trying to 

achieve and developers are of course intent on maximising the financial returns 

from the scheme, the need to move people efficiently and sustainably must also 

be achieved. Many housing developments on the wedge of Cardiff and a variety 

of developments along the M4 have not had public transport conditions imposed 

on their creation. In consequence the residents or employees in these areas have 

no practical option but to use their cars. 

But this is not only a task for local authority planners and developers. The 

investment required for effective public transport will often involve several 

Tudalen 6



3 

 

organisations – Welsh Government; bus operators; train operating companies; 

Network Rail ( please see section on Governance below)  

Having set out the need to consider how public transport  may be integrated with 

land use, this paper turns to the main theme of the inquiry – the integration of the 

different modes of public transport - bus, rail and taxi and their supplying 

organisations but including public transport’s link to the motor car in shared mode 

journeys. 

 

INTEGRATION WITHIN / BETWEEN PUBLIC TRANSPORT MODES 

 

Rationale 

 

The key objective of integrated public transport for Wales would be to provide for a 

split between accessible and affordable modes of travel which are both sustainable 

and become the preferred modes of travel. The indications that integration has 

produced benefits are:  

• Information is comprehensive, clear and easy to find at main terminals or 

interchanges and en route 

• An ease of interchange between car /cycle /walking and public transport so 

that it is seamless 

• Seamless ticketing with interchangeable and through tickets 

• Reductions in journey times through investment in railway track (more 

capacity / more frequent trains / faster possibly electric trains) and in bus 

priority (bus lanes / own reserved roadways / guided busways)  

• Newer vehicles and investment in stations and bus waiting facilities to 

improve passenger experience 

• Sustainable (environmental) travel increases through reduction in motor car 

use 

• Sustainable (financial) through an increase in demand and therefore revenue  

• Sustainable (public subsidy) achieving improved services at lower or the 

same cost 

• Sustainable (national resources) through wasted people and vehicle time and  

fuel resulting from road congestion 

However, Wales has a variety of spatial characteristics:  

• densely populated urban areas (e.g. Cardiff, Newport, Merthyr, Ebbw Vale, 

Swansea, Wrexham),  

• major towns (e.g. Neath, Port Talbot, Llanelli, Aberystwyth, Llandudno) 

• important rural centres (e.g. Carmarthen, Haverfordwest, Castell Newydd 

Emlyn, Llandeilo, Brecon, Newtown, Ruthin, Denbigh)  

Tudalen 7



4 

 

• Deep rural Wales (e.g. Ceredigion, Powys, Gwynedd).  

 

 

The potential for transfer to public transport therefore varies between 

urban and rural areas.  

These differences can be narrowed though a radical new approach to rural bus 

services. Regular-interval fixed-timetable operations suit urban areas with high 

patronage levels but have only limited value in rural areas. The Bwcabus 

computer/satellite/GPS and flexible scheduling bus system responds to demand 

and has enabled a radical and successful (in increased patronage terms) 

approach to rural public transport.  

 

 Generally there is a need for improvements in the public transport system before 

car users can be persuaded to change, and non-car owners are able, to make 

reasonably timed and priced journeys. 

 

Its current powers provide the Welsh Government / National Assembly with a 
national role only in roads, with a further role in road/rail transport through its links 
with local authorities. This severely limits its ability to balance investment 
between the best solutions to transport problems.  

 

Elements 

The analysis for this inquiry is confined to passenger transport and therefore of 

primary concern to this inquiry will be aspects (1) and (2) above. 

Then the elements identified below can be integrated (with a trade-off in 

expenditure between them based on a single multi-modal evaluation technique). 

The elements are:- 

• road investment  

• rail investment (infrastructure, rolling stock) 

• bus investment (terminals and vehicles) 

• public transport interchanges 

• walking/cycling facilities investment 

• traffic management (physical and fiscal) 

• public transport fare levels ) and consequent 

• public transport service level ) contractual payments 

 

  

Tudalen 8



5 

 

4I’s CONCEPT 

The 4I’s concept identified the following as the integration equation for passenger 

transport: 

 

 Information + Interchange + Investment + Imagination = Integration. 

The other basic factor in providing an enjoyable traveller experience is easy. Easy is 

probably the most significant objective in integrated public transport.  

The needs of Welsh travellers be they regular commuters, or visitors to Wales, is the 

foundation of the 4I’s concept. It was derived by the author as the basis of the 

English Tourist Board’s public transport desires to provide an easy way to maximise 

the traveller experience. Very little has changed in the needs of the traveller. 

The absence of any of these elements will hinder or even prevent the development 

of an integrated passenger transport system. Both the rationale for and the means to 

the delivery of, integrated public transport, together with and an explanation of 

competitive franchising, are to be found in Appendix 1  

 

Information 

Real Time is a fundamental characteristic of public transport information. This tells 

the traveller when the bus / train they are awaiting will arrive - is it on time, late, 

cancelled? 

This enables them to make decisions on waiting. The Great Britain on platform 

information is a good example. As is the dot matrix screens in for example at Cardiff 

and in some other counties. What is helpful in giving the departure times is the 

electronic version of the timetable. But this is not helpful when in real time the bus is 

late and has disappeared from the screen as in Swansea bus station. Otherwise this 

facility is to be held as the standard sought  

     Visitors, particularly those coming from overseas, need to know more than simply 

how to undertake the first stage of their journey. They need to know how to travel 

beyond any given intermediate transfer point and on to their chosen destination - the 

Dutch refer to this as trip chain management through the Planner Plus information 

system. Each mode of transport can provide information about its services, such as 

the National Rail Enquiry Service, airport hotlines, as well as coach and bus 

timetables and route planners. 

Traveline Cymru has been a major step forward over the last ten years since the 

Information Needs of the Independent Traveller study completed by the Wales 

Transport Research Centre for the Welsh Assembly Government in 2003. It has 

multi modal information but needs to develop that aspect of its system. There is a 

Tudalen 9



6 

 

tendency to provide bus information in preference to train information for the same 

route. As taxis are also a form of public transport this information needs to be 

comprehensive as in rural areas and in urban areas at certain times taxis are the 

only public transport available. It provides information for those with mobility 

problems 

In addition the Traveline call centre is able to register and book travellers into the 

Bwcabus system who have arrived in the Bwcabus zone from outside. 

Train and bus operators have low budgets (£20m p.a. on rail advertising, £2.5m pa 

on Traveline) available to promote these modes when compared with car 

manufacturers (£480m p.a.). This lack of advertising has had an adverse effect on 

demand and quality perception. The majority of the public may also perceive car 

travel costs as being only petrol and possibly parking charges and subsequently 

have little appreciation of the true costs of motoring, and the relative costs of 

train/bus options.   

Currently, the pricing structure of rail tickets (where the cheapest fares can only be 

booked in advance) penalises both tourists making last-minute plans as well as 

those not aware that tickets bought on the day of travel are more expensive. Greater 

information needs to be made available here with a simplified, easier to understand 

fare structure for the railways.  

 

Public Transport Information - Recommended Actions 

For successful public transport integration the following have to be achieved:- 

 

• Train, bus and coach times and taxi telephone numbers, and fares, as the primary 
needs (air/ferry information is also identified). Rail information is well provided for 
by the NRES telephone and internet services and on individual train operating 
company web sites. A form of standardisation of the site interrogation process 
would be useful. 

• Fares structure is complex and information clarity does vary; _  

• Bus information available locally varies considerably in quality but when available 
is usually good.  Traveline Cymru provides a telephone and online service and 
has achieved the  “Planner Plus” level of local bus information 

• Timetables are difficult to read and not lit at bus stops and railway/bus stations. In 
too many instances the timetables or other information is out of date or often not 
there. Two local authorities who provide good practice examples are 
Carmarthenshire (a rural county) and Cardiff (but please see Cardiff Public 
Transport Hub). Other authorities also have good standards. Many do not. 

• Signage At or outside bus/rail stations is in general poor and at best average. Full 
clear signage does not exist at too many locations e.g. from Cydweli rail station to 
the town and castle. 

Tudalen 10



7 

 

• Passengers do not all have electronic sources during their journeys and therefore  
signage and information in hard copy format gives reassurance that the route, 
direction e.g. between rail and bus stops or to a retail / tourist destination is 
correct 

• Railway station on-platform information on buses, taxis, routes to telephone, and 
village/town centre is improving 

• Connecting services bus/rail are often uncoordinated in terms of information and 
interchange point signage 

• There is a need for travellers to have their own pre-information on locations. More 
training in route geography for call centre staff was identified 

• Printed versions of through travel information. 

• Although not an information issue, a lack of left luggage facilities was criticised 
compared with other EU member states. The security issue was dismissed by 
most travellers 

 

(Appendix 1- a commentary on specific locations) 
 
 

Interchange 

High quality seamless interchange facilities are an essential requirement to match 

the convenience of private vehicles. Particular attention needs to be paid to the ease 

of ticketing arrangements e.g. tickets that allow travel on different types of transport, 

and the physical environment of interchanges. 

o Ticketing - The ability to purchase tickets for the entire journey, 
across all transport modes, needs to be improved, without 
introducing complex pricing structures that become a disincentive to 
travel.  

 
o Attractions ticketing - In addition, the case for issuing tickets 

allowing a discounted price for entry to certain attractions is an 
added incentive to use public transport. 

 
o Multi-ride tickets – Some excellent products giving easy travel and 

inter-modal journeys have been developed (E.g. Explore Wales 
Pass (national, south, mid / north Wales bus and rail travel); West 
Wales Rover, Capital Card (poorly advertised), Cymru Connect and 
Plus Bus. The Welsh Government is rightly testing the All Wales 
Public Transport Entitlement Card (Cerdyn Cymru is easier) at 
present. Its extension nationally for all bus and rail journeys (with 
regional, local, modal and priced options) must be a priority. The 
financial mechanisms are in place through the Over 60’s Bus Pass, 
so this is not an obstacle. Bus companies will accept the passes / 
tickets for commercial reasons but a means of ensuring they take 
past has to be achieved. Recently, a major company, Arriva Buses 

Tudalen 11



8 

 

Wales have withdrawn from a voluntary reciprocal joint ticketing 
arrangement with Richard Bros in Aberaeron, whereby both 
operators would accept each other's cash return tickets on 
commonly operated section of route.  Arriva Buses also asked for 
an increase in the price of the West Wales Rover and Red Rover 
earlier this year. Unless the membership of joint ticketing schemes 
or ‘rover’ tickets is comprehensive, a resultant gap in services 
covered would make such a ticket very limited in market terms and 
confusing to the traveller.  

 
o Physical environment - Tourists, usually with luggage, require ease 

and comfort when changing between transport modes; otherwise it 
will be difficult to persuade people of the benefits of using public 
transport. In order to make interchanges attractive and user-
friendly, there is a need to provide for ease of movement; luggage 
storage facilities; secure parking for cycles, cars and motorcycles; 
undercover links; short walking distances; well-maintained facilities; 
and personal safety and security. 

 
o Timetables which enable passengers to easily make connections 

without long intervals. This is more easily achieved in urban areas 
that rural areas as the former have more frequent services. Too 
often services with low frequencies (e.g. every one or two hours 
miss one another by minutes or where the interchange time is too 
short.  

 
o Clear signage between different modes. This is essential where the 

two modes (usually bus and train) are not physically next to one 
another or it is not clear which is the easiest route the traveller or 
where there is a multi-stand bus facility exactly which stand the 
connecting bus is on. For travellers moving from bus to train that 
departure platform information is considerably better 

 

Many visitors have luggage; they may well have young children with them or 

could be impaired in terms of their mobility due to age or physical disability. The 

ease with which they can change between modes from train to bus or taxi will be 

critical to determining their experience of public transport and whether they would 

wish to use it again.  

Criteria for physical interchange 

Studies into traveller needs have suggested the following criteria for seamless, 

high quality interchanges:- 

• Clear, comprehensive information on the interchange characteristics. 

• Ease of movement (particularly for those with heavy luggage or young 

children). 

• Secure parking for cycles, cars and motorcycles. 

Tudalen 12



9 

 

• Undercover links between modes. 

• Clear directional signs, between modes and to local destinations (e.g. 

town centre, hotels). 

• Short walking distances. 

• Good timetable displays.  

• Well maintained infrastructure, clean toilets, etc. 

• Personal security. 

• Left luggage facilities  

• Car-hire provision. 

 

Action has to be taken to implement these policies so providing seamless 

interchange between train, bus and taxi. As with many policies their success lies 

in the positive impact on traveller convenience 

(Appendix 2 – examples of good interchange practice and required 

improvements) 

  

Investment 

On the strategic level the achievement of traveller’s requirements - the 

prerequisite to inducing modal change - is through funding and organisation of 

change. 

There is a general recognition that changes in personal commitment are the real 

key to achieving more sustainable mobility. Changing personal behaviour is not 

easy particularly when motor car advertising is twenty-four times that of railway 

expenditure. Blaming the government (whether Welsh or UK or European) is a 

familiar excuse, in that it might be argued that public awareness of the public 

transport options is its responsibility. Making the train or bus more attractive 

requires investment. Sometimes investment in both buses and trains and in 

waiting facilities is needed to smarten up the image and the service quality and 

change the travelling public’s perception.  

Often, because of long term under-investment, a more radical and more 

expensive expenditure programme is needed. This applies particularly to 

infrastructure and en route facilities such as bus shelters and smaller railway 

stations. 

The argument that as the transport industry is in the private sector then public 

funding should not be forthcoming is now recognised as unrealistic and the 

product of political dogma rather than rational thought. Public funding on a large 

scale is however the answer to improved quality and reliability; but in a business 

context where a financial commitment has been made over a longer term  

Tudalen 13



10 

 

The primary means of affecting modal split in the short term is through attracting 

more passengers out of their cars and onto public transport. The opportunities to 

reduce leisure journeys are few; some opportunities exist for some people to 

work from home on say one day a week but service providers and production 

workers, by the very nature of their jobs, are excluded. 

 

Imagination 

There is often a lack of vision in the transport industry in relation to integration. 

Many of the operators come up with new innovative ideas to increase demand. 

New innovations such as Bwcabus and TrawsCymru come from Welsh 

Government transport advisors and academics.  

But more imagination is required. This is not about considering the unthinkable; 

more it is about considering the un-thought about. Current operations take the 

lead in keeping the business financially sustainable. But too often also, the hi-

tech solution is so much more exciting that simple low technology options are 

forgotten – sigh posts; paper notices; low tech destination boards but combined 

with real time and internet based information. Both are an essential part of the 

information trail for passengers 

 

HOW WELL IS PUBLIC TRANSPORT INTEGRATED IN WALES 

There is limited integration of public transport in Wales and indeed in Great Britain as 

a whole except London.  

In Northern Ireland where there is a totally different regime coordination is provided 

for and all services are owned and regulated by Translink, a function of the 

Government of Northern Ireland and the operations are fully integrated.  

In London Transport for London (TfL) is the only sole public body responsible for all 

public transport in the UK capital – bus, Underground, Overground, all other heavy 

rail services (jointly with DfT), taxis and water buses. It owns all bus stations and 

garages, Underground stations and depots, taxi ranks and hackney cab centre, and 

riverboat piers.  

All buses operations are franchised to private bus companies by TfL (including First, 

Arriva and Stagecoach who operate in Wales) and vehicles are specified (and in 

some cases owned by TfL and leased to companies) in terms of type Euro emission 

level. This includes a requirement that all buses are in London Transport red with 

only the operators name and registration details allowed to vary. Timetables, routes, 

interchange facilities and route and infrastructure planning are carried out by TfL. 

This is the model fully integrated public transport network. The franchising parallels 

Tudalen 14



11 

 

in branding terms those of e.g. MacDonald’s, Holiday Inn, Marks and Spencer 

transport fleet 

This is not the case in Wales. There is a variation in the level of integration but the 

rationale cannot be clearly identified. It is not a reflection of size of town or of rural 

versus urban public transport. Many towns in Wales have for example particularly 

good interchange facilities. (Appendix 2) 

 

QUALITY BUS PARTNERSHIPS (QBP) AND QUALITY BUS CONTRACTS (QBC) 

Definition 

The Transport Act 2000 (as amended by Transport Act 2008) enables Welsh local 
authorities to "make" Statutory Quality Bus Partnership Schemes (SQBP's). SQBP's 
essentially establish minimum quality standards for local bus services operating in 
the area covered by the Scheme. Standards could include frequencies, hours of 
operation, type and age of vehicles, common dates for timetable changes, branding / 
marketing, fares and ticketing and infrastructure improvements.  

The office of the Traffic Commissioner will play a key role in 'policing' the system by 
ensuring that registrations from bus operators are only accepted if they meet the 
minimum service requirements as specified in the Scheme. This system continues to 
ensure a competitive 'on road' supply of bus services, whilst introducing a more 
stable environment for the passenger.  

The Transport Act 2000 makes it clear that local authorities will play a key role in 
"making" Schemes; however the Welsh Assembly Government may be a co-
signatory if the Scheme covers a significant stretch of designated Trunk Road. Few 
of these Schemes have been introduced in Wales to date, with the exception of 
those introduced to protect investment on the longer distance TrawsCymru network. 

The Transport Act 2008 enables local authorities to establish Quality Contract's 
where the local authority contracts out a package of local bus services to a set 
specification. 'On the road' competition is replaced by 'competition for the contract'. 
There is the assumption that local authorities will only seek these powers if the 
SQBP approach does not work or deliver their transport objectives. Officials would 
need to check if the provisions of the 2008 Act have been activated in Wales. No 
QCS have been implemented yet, although West Yorkshire Integrated Transport 
Authority (WYPRE) is at present assessing such a Scheme. 

Currently only county council’s in Wales may “make” a QBP/QBC. They may not be 
made by the Welsh Government a regional Consortium or even a Joint Transport 
Authority (as provided in the Transport (Wales) Act 2006). This provides a further 
argument for primary legislation in the Westminster Parliament or powers over bus 
regulation transferred to the National Assembly. 
 
 

Tudalen 15



12 

 

Review of progress 

Deregulation of the bus market followed the discredited Transport Act 1985. The 

then UK government set out the concept (which remains the basis) that the free 

market would provide the necessary bus services and that the public sector would 

‘subsidise’ what was left of the bus network. Unfortunately rather a lot was left but 

ironically, London, the biggest bus market in Britain, was to be operated through 

franchised operations integrated by Transport for London.  

The Transport Act 2008 following representations from bus company organisations 

not to extend the London franchising model to other areas of Great Britain provided a 

compromise where routes or networks could by agreement with bus companies have 

standards of reliability, frequency, vehicle quality and other elements set up a QBP. 

This would not be compulsory and all bus companies need not sign up. Those who 

did not might then have a lower cost advantage over those who did. The only penalty 

is the prohibition of such an operator from facilities such As bus stops and bus 

stations.  

Sweden or Denmark (like Wales are amongst the smaller countries of Europe) can 

provide pointers to the benefits of a real partnership between the Welsh Government 

regional consortia / local authorities and the bus companies.  

If a Partnership did not work, a QBC might be set up. West Yorkshire has embarked 

on this process recently. 

A newly available statutory framework called Quality Bus Contracts will, according to 

a West Yorkshire PTE report, bring considerable benefits from integrated ticketing, 

with better reliability, market and network stability, a clear and stable pricing structure 

and public sector provision of route infrastructure such as bus stop information and 

bus priority schemes. WYPTE have made the point that bus companies perceive the 

change as a threat but with declining patronage and passenger dissatisfaction with 

some though by no means all services, quality has to be a key answer. 

This will lead to increased passenger numbers and enhance the revenue stream of 

bus operators of all sizes.  

British bus companies have long campaigned against a London-style franchising 

system which exists in many European city regions and on Britain’s railways 

Many small and medium sized bus companies however see this form of supply side 

competition for service provision as providing them with a less risky revenue stream 

than demand side competition especially with larger companies. Even with the harsh 

realities of public sector expenditure cuts changing this balance, revenue flows can 

be protected through expansion of the bus market  

Neither of these options achieves the full benefits of a franchising arrangement for all 

routes. 

Tudalen 16



13 

 

(Appendix 3 - Competitive franchising in Wales – an alternative framework for 
competition) 
 
 
Note: Members will recall a Measure passed by all parties in the National Assembly. 
Introduced by Mr Huw Lewis AM, it was intended to deconstruct the demand-side free-
market (some have referred to free-for-all) competition introduced by the Transport Act 1985, 
and replace it with supply side competition. This puts the operation of routes or networks 
(groups of routes) into a franchising context.  
 
 
.NETWORK RAIL 

The establishment of a Network Rail Cymru - Wales route and the appointment of a 

Head of Planning and Development Cymru – Wales has moved the railways division 

of public transport into a position where working with the Welsh Government 

becomes more cohesive and linked into the Governments aspirations and priorities 

for the railway network in Wales.  Scotland already had the equivalent of a Network 

Rail national office. 

 

LEGAL POLICY AND ADMINISTRATIVE / DELIVERY OBSTACLES 

There is a major obstacle to public transport which is legislative. The Transport Act 

1985 deregulated bus operations in Great Britain. There is a general view that this 

was a move to far in believing that the ‘market can provide’ the level of service 

needed in all areas and at all times of the day when there is a demand. The bus 

industry would not agree with this criticism because the present system provides for 

two separate networks which local authorities try to join into one for the travelling 

public. There are profitable routes or parts of routes / at particular times of day 

generally between 07.00 and 19.00 Monday to Saturday in densely populated urban 

areas. There are unprofitable operations in rural areas, at early morning and late 

evening and on Sundays. The age profile of the fleet is also affected by the market 

place approach. Most bus companies expect a financial margin of 13% - 15% on 

turnover; Cardiff Bus and Newport Bus require a rate 5% 0n turnover. This enables 

those operators to receive a low percentage of their income from subsidy (excluding 

concessionary fares income which is derived from a separate Welsh Government 

policy objective. 

Under the terms of the Act bus companies make their own decisions on which routes 

to register as commercial. They alone make decisions on those operations. Any 

tendered services are of course subject to the contractual arrangements between the 

transport authority and the bus companies. Thus there is no requirement on bus 

companies to integrate tickets and timetables between themselves or with other 

operators despite their being members of the same overall group. The commercial 

advantage is the reason for most bus companies taking part on the Over 60’s travel 

Tudalen 17



14 

 

pass, the West Wales Rover or the national bus and rail Freedom of Wales 

Flexipass. The alternatives are set out below under steps to improve integration.  

As an interim measure prior to bus franchising the use of quality bus partnerships 

and quality bus contracts would assist considerably in improving vehicle standards 

and bring closer operational integration between transport companies. 

(Appendix 4 – Governance Structure for integrated public transport) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 18



15 

 

APPENDICIES 
 
APPENDIX 1 
 
INFORMATION AT SPECIFIC LOCATIONS - COMMENTARY 
 
Cardiff Railway Station 

• New information point is centrally sited but opens only from 08.30 to 17.00. 
There is no bus information or timetables available outside these times Many 
passengers travel outside these times; in particular those sport, retail and 
business travellers who are important to Cardiff’s economic prosperity. Rail 
information is good with maps, timetables for all services 

• Bus information is less than adequate.  The bus information side is staffed but 
there are no Cardiff area bus maps or timetables available. Cardiff City 
Council produce a high quality bus map annually but it can be found in 
theSpublic library 

• The route posters at Cardiff Bus Station (the responsibility of Cardiff City 
Council) are dated January 2011. In consequence many new services have 
begun (e.g. T4 to Newtown) and not shown, some have relocated and no 
reference is made to the bus box. The information is inaccurate and / or 
incomplete’. It hardly makes bus travel easy. 

• Interchange in formation between bus and rail is poor. A non-real time screen 
shows buses departing from the bus station but does not show bus box 
services.  

• The signage from the station to ‘bus box’ services is non-existent 

• These are the main  inadequacies ; the seamless interchange journey is 
nowhere near easy 

• Bus stop stand location information is poor. Cardiff City Council has planned 
information screens for some time. This is in contrast to the rail information in 
the booking hall of Central Station 

 
Swansea 

• Good information on buses services at the bus station; no rail information 

• Bus stop information is provided by one bus company who cannot expect to 
be responsible for other operators information. This has been the case since 
an earlier survey (2006) but no action has been taken 

• Good rail information at the railway station. A screen shows departures (not 
real time) and indicates the bus stop to be used. But only one out of four bus 
stops is shown on the signage. 

 
 

Without this level of information an integrated public transport system will not be 

achieved. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 19



16 

 

APPENDIX 2  

INTERCHANGE PRACTICE 

Examples of good interchange practice 

• In rural Carmarthenshire and Ceredigion the Bwcabus network feds into 

trunk services using a sophisticated GPS/route planning/booking system. This 

enables a journey to be seamless between say Capel Iwan a small deep rural 

village via a hub on service 460 to Carmarthen and onwards from the bus or 

railway station to other local services or onto Cardiff, London or Paris 

• Caerphilly bus station is located on a level with railway platforms adjacent to 

one another. There is good signage and easy interchange for those with 

mobility constraints, the elderly or those with luggage, buggies or small 

children 

• Carmarthen railway station is directly connected to the bus station and the 

town centre by a bridge over the Tywi River. It is well signposted. Buses stop 

outside the rail station and operate to the bus station providing a useful 

interchange link. Brecon Bus Station has traditional waiting facilities but has a 

high level of integrated timetables partly because Powys contract out most of 

the routes and Stagecoach a major operator in the area have a commercial 

view of integrated timetables 

• Swansea Bus Station is a state of the art facility with good quality interchange 

by bus (please see intermodal facilities below) 

• Rhyl – good quality NEW at grade bus / rail interchange; good signage and 

information 

• Aberystwyth – the rebuilt bus station is at grade with and adjacent to the 

railway station and taxi area 

• Llandrindod – good quality local maps; train / bus timetables lit and under 

cover; take away rail timetables but not bus (a T4 service timetable of the 

same size as a railway timetable is available); bus interchange timings require 

minor changes 

 

Examples of locations which require improvement 

• Carmarthen. When the TrawsCymru Carmarthen - Aberystwyth service is 

able to proceed, investment in information and a bus canopy will be 

introduced. A covered bridge between the two terminals would have been 

more appropriate to maximise the traveller experience. At present the service 

operated by Arriva Buses Cymru (under its Cymru Express has either tight or 

extended connections. There are also other issues in relation to this service. 

• Cardiff Public Transport Hub has to have a fully integrated bus, car, cycle and 

rail design and requires a high quality interchange to rank with on a lesser 

scale, Kings Cross, London and Amsterdam Bijlmer and nearer home, 

Tudalen 20



17 

 

Swansea. The bus element would be best sited at the front of the railway 

station connected seamlessly through a mall to Cardiff Central railway station, 

and developed commercially as a state of the art facility. Whichever of the two 

options is chosen there is also a need to connect them physically under the 

railway station to the proposed developments on Callaghan Square to create 

a St David’s 3 business district. It is unfortunate that the bus area 

development at the hub appears to have a lower priority than the new office 

and convention centre plans. It is hoped that public transport access to the 

new centre will be a prime determinant of its location. Much may be learned 

from the public transport provision at the  Berlin Philharmonic Hall  

• Swansea has a new bus station seen as one of the better designs in Europe 

and a refurbished brand new look railway station and linking the two 

(unfortunately a mile apart) is a high frequency set of bus routes. While the 

Metro is well signposted, the many other-routes stop is not and the full 

departure screen is not sufficiently in view. These minor changes at the 

railway station would significantly improve interchange information between 

high quality facilities not least the electric train service in 2018. 

• The redesign of Merthyr bus flows and bus station location has to make for 

ease of modal interchange and serve the retail area and town centre 

redevelopment plans. 

• Abergavenny where the bus and rail stations are a considerable distance 

apart, signage is limited and the plan for bus access to the railway station has 

again been delayed  

• Llanelli – the bus station is adjacent to the shopping centre and section 106 

requirement on the developers would have provided a first class bus station 

with full covering integrated into the high quality shopping and cultural centre; 

it serves the out of town shopping centres; frequency of connections to the 

railway station however require considerable improvement.  

• Newport bus station is currently being rebuilt. However it still remains a 

considerable walking distance from the railway station which is disappointing. 

The redevelopment of the city centre would have been an opportunity to make 

the bus station interchange with rail being a key part of the plan. There are 

likely to be long periods when reconstruction takes place which will increase 

inconvenience for passengers. 

Information is generally better provided as suggested in the review above. This is 

particularly the case with timetables (bus and rail) and rail and National Express 

booking and advanced booking. Bus travel is largely as ‘turn up and go’ arrangement 

and to some local train services (e.g. Valley Lines). 

Many counties e.g. Carmarthenshire or Cardiff provide high quality bus stop 

information on differing basis. Some counties are at the other end of the spectrum. 

Most lie in between and the level of integration defined by the 4 I’s has been 

dependent on local authority approach or priority given to public transport. 

Tudalen 21



18 

 

Integration within public transport will be limited therefore if the 4I’s are not present.  

 

 
 
APPENDIX 3  
 
COMPETITIVE FRANCHISING IN WALES – AN ALTERNATIVE FRAMEWORK 
FOR BUS COMPETITION 
 

 

Deficiencies in the current arrangements 

The current provisions could be argued to have the following deficiencies: 

• any subsidised service is prevented from competing with a commercial 

service 

• but commercial services are generally cherry picked 

• bus companies choose to operate profitable sections / times / days 

• non-profitable sections or times of day and Sundays are subsidised by county 

councils 

• the inability to cross subsidise means that counties' expenditure is increased 

 

The Consequences 

Damaging consequences to passenger services and the travelling experience and 

easy of travel have frequently followed from the ‘free market provides’ philosophy of 

the 1985 Act 

• instability in the market (no control of timetable changes) 

• unfair competition against Welsh SME companies by international, national 

and large regional bus operators more able to spread the risks of a 

contestable market 

• domination of the market by such companies and groups with reduced 

opportunities for Welsh SMEs 

• no coordination of timetables 

• no cross subsidy 

The fact that the implementation of part of the Welsh Government's National 

Transport Plan, the trans-Wales coach service known as TrawsCymru (on its T1 

Aberystwyth – Carmarthen route), can be prevented provides an example of the 

unfortunate consequences of the current arrangements. These arrangements are 

supported only by the bus companies for whom they provide higher profits. 

Tudalen 22



19 

 

The Solution 

Bus Franchising 
 
The principles set out in this paper are based on recognition of the failure of private 
control of the bus industry to achieve certain key objectives. However private 
ownership of the bus companies, but operating in a government-run competitive 
franchising context, has been shown to work well in London. In this paper it is argued 
that that an opportunity has arisen in Wales to tender bus services so as to test the 
operational and financial aspects of a public transport system outside the London 
context. 
 
Franchising therefore provides the best of both worlds: 

• public control and service-specification 

• private operation of the services 
 
It recognises that a free market is unsuitable for surface public transport operations 
because: 

• they are unlikely to meet key objectives such as social inclusion, reduction in 
congestion and environmental sustainability 

• the real competitor is not often bus or rail companies but the motor car, a 
factor that is clearly not recognised by the current competition legislation 
emanating from both the UK Government and the European Commission 

• It is difficult to combine the profit motive (a reasonable objective within a 
mixed economy in appropriate circumstances) and the public service 
objectives referred to above. 

 
Competitive Franchising in Wales – an alternative framework for competition 
A Competitive Franchising System 
 
The objectives of such a system would be in line with those of competition legislation 

• enabling bus services to be provided in a competitive market 

• reducing operating costs and revenue support levels 

• making bus operations more demand-sensitive 

• improving value for money 

• preventing large companies from dominating the market 
 
Such objectives could be achieved within a competitive framework while reducing 
the instability referred to above. The franchises would be issued by the Welsh 
Government or a local transport authority – the regional consortium, a JTA - which 
would also be the coordination and subsidy authority for a route, group of routes, 
travel corridor or small area. This is similar to Transport for London bus route / 
network tendering and the Great Britain railway franchising process. This is closer to 
commercial retail franchising than to deregulation, and its adoption suggests that 
there are variations between the two which could provide a better competitive 
framework than the one currently in use. 
 
Competitive franchising will prevent a return of the pre 1930s situation when there 
were many operators' no multi-operator tickets, constant changes in timetables, 
together with confusion and inconvenience for the passenger. In the present state of 

Tudalen 23



20 

 

the bus passenger market and given the presence of the car as an alternative (unlike 
the 1920’s) many passengers are likely to change modes. Competitive franchising 
will take competition off the roads and instead establish pre-operational (supply-side) 
competition under the aegis of the franchising authority. 
 
 A form of competitive franchising can meet many of the operation and financial 
problems inherent in the current competition-based approach established by the 
1985 Transport Act. It would:- 

• allow competition; 

• provide a more secure market for restructuring bus service provision; 

• prevent instability 

• enable the retention of the county councils’ co-ordinating function, and the 
continuity of  timetables and regular operations; 

• provide value for money; 

• take competition off the roads, but allow its full value to be realised through 
the franchising process; 

• enable a phased introduction of its proposals; 

• allow alternative forms of competitive franchising to be pursued; 

• allow for an integrated bus network; 

• enable the subsidising authority to predict its subsidy expenditure more 
accurately; 

• Achieve efficiency without the existence of an unstable market. 
 
Characteristics of a Competitive Franchising System 
 

1. Routes would be specified by the franchising authority and tenders invited 
from potential operators. Such routes might be profitable or unprofitable. 

2. The operator awarded the contract would not have to face subsequent 
competition on the routes specified during the contract period. 

3. The franchise would be granted on the basis of the lowest subsidy 
requirement for a specified group of services. (An alternative would be to 
allocate a specified amount of money for the service package and award the 
contract to the operator providing the highest service level.) 

4. The subsidy would be awarded for the whole of the contract period. 
5. The contract period would be three to five years. The minimum period would 

be determined by the operators’ requirements to make a reasonable return on 
investment and the maximum period would allow for competitive re-
advertising sufficiently frequently to encourage the contractor to provide the 
quality of service required by the passenger and the franchising authority. 

6. The right to develop subsidiary interests such as vehicle maintenance, 
advertising etc. as profit-making functions would be assured. 

7. An operational plan and financial forecasts would be provided at the 
application stage. Performance could then be monitored against this plan. 

8. Assets such as buses and garages, as well as employees, could be 
transferred from an operator losing a contract to the newly contracted 
operator at the end of the franchise period. This would provide further 
encouragement for a higher quality of capital equipment to be included in an 
operator’s investment programme. 

Tudalen 24



21 

 

9. All revenue and profit together with the agreed subsidy figure could be 
retained by the operator in a shire-county franchising arrangement. 
Alternatively the present Transport for London (TfL) process could be used. 
TfL receives all fares revenue and the operator receives an agreed sum for 
running the services. 

 
The size of each franchised operation would be small enough to enable companies 
of varying size to compete, so achieving a particular objective of the 1985 Transport 
Act. 
 
Such a system of competitive franchising has features in common with that currently 
operated by the Department for Transport (previously the SRA) for rail services. It 
has also been accepted as a suitable method for London’s buses and has already 
been shown to be a workable framework for competition and subsidy. In the free 
competitive market it is a common means of selecting operators for food retailing 
outlets. This parallel with the highly competitive and profitable franchised operations 
used by familiar high street companies such as MacDonald’s (fast food retailing) or 
Holiday Inn and Marriott (hotels) suggests that it is suitable for the competitive 
aspects of bus operations. 
 
It would achieve the benefits of competition whilst providing greater stability and co-
ordination of services. Such a scheme has wide support amongst a variety of 
organisations in Wales but also in England and Scotland. 
 
Competition in public transport is accepted as a valuable means of achieving better 
defined value for money from bus subsidies and the alternative outlined here is 
essentially about the detailed implementation of a competitive scheme. 
 
The passenger railway has been franchised as a part of the privatisation of train 
services. Considerable discussion took place on the form of privatisation and the 
belief was that network benefits (e.g. integrated timetables and tickets 
interchangeable between companies) could only be achieved if a franchising 
authority (OPRAF, then the SRA and now the Rail Directorate DfT) was in place.  
 

The TrawsCymru Network  
 
This can be seen in the national long-distance bus network in Wales (previously 
branded loosely as Traws Cambria but now being developed as the TrawsCymru, a 
brand registered by the Welsh Government). 
 
TrawsCymru is intended (in the author’s view) under the National Transport Plan to 
be franchised to several operators by the Welsh Government. There are new routes 
which as an integrated whole cannot be provided individually. Under the tendering 
process the public transport authority (Welsh Government) would maintain controls 
over the quality of service offered through the strategy and brand values it 
determined. Tenderers would have to comply with all operational, safety, 
maintenance and financial requirements either under the public service vehicle 
licensing arrangements (controlled by the Traffic Commissioners) or under the terms 
of the TrawsCymru franchise contacts. 

Tudalen 25



22 

 

 
Following the awarding of the new rail franchise in 2018 (or earlier if the present 
contractor agrees) the long distance bus (TrawsCymru) and rail (Rail Cymru) routes 
would be marketed as an integral part of the Wales public transport network. 
Standard fares would be charged and all of the following would be accepted: 
“travelcards” such as the National Flexipass; concessionary passes; the national 
public transport entitlement card as specified in the National Transport Plan (Pass 
Cymru); all other similar tickets valid on Wales’ buses. Contractors would be required 
to brand their vehicles to the public as operating a service on behalf of the Welsh 
Government. 
 
This process is very different from the current approach under the 1985 Transport 
Act and the Competition Act whereby market forces determine the network, with 
competitive tendering restricted to loss-making services only. Rather it follows the 
'London technique' which takes competition firmly off the road and keeps it as a 
supply-side competitive tendering process. 
 
The advantages of this will be continuity of service, integrated services and standard 
fares, but achieved at a lower cost than either direct ownership by the public sector 
(other than at arms-length not-for-dividend options)  or the present mix of market-led 
profitable ‘cherry-picked’ routes with subsidised loss-making services. 

 

 

APPENDIX 4 

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 

The preferred structure to achieve such integration nationally, regionally or locally 
has (in the author’s view) two prerequisites:- 
 

a. A single policy and budgetary authority at the strategic (geographic) level both 
national and regional. This would also be the co-ordinating body for all modes of 
public transport 
 
. 
b. Co-ordinating bodies at operational level to achieve seamless interchange 
between modes, within modes, and between modes and land uses/human activities. 
This relates to physical interface and the provision of through ticketing. 
 
 

While services in (b) may be provided by contractors, provisions in (a) must involve a 

single body at the national and regional level carrying out both functions. 

This is the role which the Transport (Wales) Act 2006 saw for the Joint Transport 

Authorities (JTA). The legislative provision is available and it is regrettable that 

Tudalen 26



23 

 

Sewta (the voluntary consortium of local authorities) has not as yet been converted 

into a JTA for south east Wales (or the recently identified city region) 

The elements of such a system exist in other member states of the European Union 

where high investment levels, together with policies for the co-ordination of services, 

fares and infrastructure developments, may be found in major centres as well as in 

local areas.  

The Regional Councils of France have transport as a major policy issue with their 

responsibility covering local railway services (along with SNCF) and bus operations 

in the municipalities.  

In Sweden regional public transport bodies run local bus and rail services in a 

country with extensive rural areas, a small population (8m) and a concentration of 

people in a small part of the total land area.  

The Netherlands has a national ticketing system for local public transport (the 

Nationale Strippenkaart) and a national railway service but with provinces being 

responsible for stations and for all bus, rail and train-taxi services which may be 

directly operated by a government owned body or by a private company franchised 

by the appropriate local or national authority. Track operations are retained by the 

State-owned Railned.  

In Austria, the Land (equivalent to the consortia areas) has responsibility within its 

area for all local public transport and land use planning. This is linked into a national 

policy for rail services. Joint ticketing exists on all services within the Land.  Austrian 

Railways (a public sector body) retain operational control and ownership of the track. 

The present writer's proposals for Wales would follow the above in many ways, but, 

would be taken further to the point where control and finance, policy and service 

provision (though not necessarily all operations) would be conducted by one 

national, and four associated regional, bodies (the Joint Transport Authorities) based 

on the geographical areas of the current transport consortia and county council 

groupings. 

 

END 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 27



24 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 28



 1 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 ATCO Cymru is the Welsh region of the Association of Transport Co-ordinating 

Officers. The Association exists to; 

• secure the association of persons directly concerned with the formulation of 
policies for the securing of public passenger transport services, 

• exchange information and views, 

• assist in the formulation of policies and standards, 

• promote appropriate matters of common interest in the transportation field 
with the objective of improving passenger  transport service on a nationwide 
basis. 

 
1.2 The Association provides a forum for regional members to meet together, share 

experience and develop initiatives. It works with those in the bus and rail industries 
and the community transport sector. The Association also shares information with, 
and gives advice to, Local Authority associations and Government in England, 
Scotland and Wales on transport matters. 

 
2. Integrated public transport  
 
2.1 ATCO Cymru considers the limited amount of integration in the public transport 

network as a key barrier that needs to be addressed. It believes that Wales needs a 
modern, accessible, integrated and sustainable transport system that helps to 
develop the economy, promote social inclusion and equality and protects the 
environment. 

 
2.2 There are many good public transport services in Wales (although examples of bad 

practice can be found too). However too many of the good services are less 
successful than they should be because they are isolated and not part of a properly 
integrated public transport system. We believe that improvements to the public 
transport system, making it into a proper integrated public transport system could 
bring about substantial benefits, not just because of their own value, but because 
they enable all other parts of the public transport system, and any future 
improvements to it, work much better. 

 
2.3 The four key features of a properly integrated public transport system are: 

• Fully integrated ticketing 

• Appropriate timetable coordination 

• High-quality interchanges 

• Integrated public transport information 

 

 
ATCO Cymru response to the National 
Assembly of Wales Enterprise & Business 
Committee Inquiry into Integrated Public 
Transport  

 
 

  

Eitem 4

Tudalen 29



 2 

 
3. Fully integrated ticketing 
 
3.1 Improved ticketing arrangements are a key component of integration between 

services and between public transport modes. A single integrated ticketing system 
and more easily understood ticketing arrangements reduce barriers to the use of 
public transport and improve transfers between connections. This enables more 
seamless travel, and brings benefits in terms of affordability, convenience and time-
saving. The provision of integrated ticketing, facilitated by the widespread use of 
smartcards, is an important part of transport integration. 

 
3.2 A study undertaken on behalf of the Passenger Transport Executive Group (PTEG) 

into the benefits of simple and unified ticketing structures found that the 
introduction of such systems can lead to substantial patronage growth in the range 
of 6% to 20%, with some modes experiencing increases of the order of 40%. In London 
it is estimated that a third of the increased use of public transport since 1999/00 
can be attributed to Oyster and other ticketing simplifications.  

 
3.3 In addition to patronage increases there are benefits in terms of increases in 

recorded passenger satisfaction, evidence of resulting modal shift, increases in 
revenue, reductions in transaction and administrative costs, social benefits, 
reductions in fraud, wider contribution to city life and identity, acquisition of 
accurate data on passenger travel behaviour enabling better capacity and network 
planning, and faster boarding times enabling buses to run more reliably, faster and 
frequently. 

 
3.4 It should be noted that this has been achieved in London through a highly regulated 

and franchised route network but the return to regulation and the introduction of 
quality contracts in Wales must not be seen as the panacea in itself. Success comes 
at a price and London has the highest subsidy levels per capita in the UK, consuming 
42% of public spending on buses for 15% of the population. However, this is cheap in 
comparison to European cities. Spend per capita was £103.43 in 2009/10 – almost 
five times the level in the PTE areas (£23.31) and not far off ten times the level in 
the English Shires (£13.47). 

 
3.5 ATCO Cymru believes that to be effective integrated ticketing must be a simple, 

single system, with a full range of tickets, valid on all public transport services 
without exception, at a fare level similar to current single-operator tickets. The 
introduction of a limited range of highly or premium-priced through-tickets with a 
restricted validity, limited use, limited purchasing opportunities, which are difficult 
to publicise, will not deliver integrated ticket or integrated public transport.  

 
3.6 In Wales every bus operator has its own ticketing system and fare structure. Some of 

these are fairly simple. For example Cardiff Bus and Newport Bus effectively use a 
flat fare system within the respective city limits, but others are less simple for users 
to understand. The local rail system around Cardiff and the Valleys has its own 
separate (mostly zonal) fares system. There are also numerous limited multi-bus 
operator and multi-modal tickets, add-ons and examples of through-ticketing.  

Tudalen 30



 3 

 
3.7 In South East Wales every bus operator has its own ticketing system and fare 

structure. Some of these are fairly simple. For example Cardiff Bus and Newport Bus 
effectively use a flat fare system within the respective city limits, but others are 
less simple for users to understand. The local rail system has its own separate 
(mostly zonal) fares system.  

 
3.8 There are numerous limited multi-bus operator and multi-modal tickets, add-ons and 

examples of through-ticketing. There are one-day and weekly bus network rider, 
PlusBus rail & bus tickets, Caerphilly, Rhondda and Aberdare bus plus rail tickets, 
RailLink bus services, further rail and bus rover, ranger, explorer and flexi-passes, as 
well as numerous local agreements where one operators accepts tickets (e.g. return 
tickets) issued by other operators (especially where evening services are provided 
under contract by a different operator).  
 

3.9 In North East Wales, there is a network bus ticket called the "BwsAbout," which gives 
unlimited travel on specified services within Flintshire and Denbighshire, as well as 
allowing cross border travel to both Cheshire and Wrexham on journeys that are fully 
or partly funded by the local authority. In Flintshire, there is the DeeRover ticket, 
which allows unlimited travel across border to both Cheshire and Wrexham on all 
subsidised journeys. There is also the "CymruConnect" a combined rail/bus ticket, 
for rail passengers wishing to go to a main town served only by bus and not the train. 
Additionally, across North Wales and covering all six Taith Authorities, there is the 
"North Wales Rover," which is available for travel on all trains and most bus services 
throughout the area. The ticket operates on zones, so passengers can choose which 
zones they want the ticket to cover. 
 

3.10 In rural areas, where a high percentage of services are tendered, it allows the 
authorities to specify certain ticket types. The Powys Day Rover is one example that 
could potentially allow you to travel from Shrewsbury / Oswestry / Machynlleth to 
Swansea / Cardiff / Abergavenny on a single ticket. 

 
3.11 The larger operators in Wales, such as Arriva, First and Stagecoach offer a range of 

local and national ticket products for travel within a defined area for varying periods 
purchased from the driver or on line for the longer term tickets. Other operators, 
such as Cardiff Bus and Newport Transport of a range of daily, weekly and monthly 
tickets for use on their networks. 
 

3.12 Because of competition issues the vast majority of these operate as through-tickets 
(where the 2nd operator simply accepts the tickets of the first operator without 
financial compensation) or add-ons (where the 2nd operator receives a set additional 
amount that is added to an existing ticket by the 1st operator. There are no multi-
operator travel cards where revenue is shared by passenger journeys or passenger 
miles.  

 
3.13 In most areas there are no day, weekly or longer season ticket that is valid on all bus 

and rail operators, though the Wales Flexipass still exists. For most trips involving 
more than one operator (whether bus-bus or bus-rail) it is impossible to purchase a 

Tudalen 31



 4 

single through ticket. Where they exist they are usually more expensive than the 
fare for an equivalent journey of the same distance with a single operator. In 
summary, existing through-ticketing / integrated ticketing arrangements are limited, 
confusing and expensive. 
 

3.14 Through the Welsh National Transport Plan the Welsh Government has made a 
commitment to introduce a Welsh Transport Entitlement Card for bus and rail 
services (‘Go Cymru’). According to the NTP this “would include integrated 
ticketing, to allow ‘seamless’ transfer between services and operators, by 2014”. It 
is currently being developed as an e-purse, which will facilitate cashless, rather than 
offer an integrated ticket; a pilot valid centred on Newport and valid on Newport 
Bus and Cardiff Bus is currently under way.  
 

3.15 There are though at the moment a number challenges. Firstly, an actual fares and 
ticketing system would need to be developed, identifying available tickets, ticketing 
structure, fare zones / stages, fares levels, central processing, revenue distribution 
/ reimbursement mechanism, sales / purchase mechanisms, management costs, etc. 
Any such scheme would need to be planned carefully so as to not fall foul of 
competition legislation and to take account of conditions that apply to public 
transport ticketing schemes. Consultation with operators and the competition 
commission would be essential. These tasks have some resource implications, if 
these issues are to be taken forward.  
 

3.16 A further issue is to ensure universal acceptance at a fare similar to current single 
operator fares. Concerning bus services, there may be an opportunity to make 
membership of such a scheme a condition of payments under the Regional Transport 
Services Grant, the successor to Local Transport Services (LTSG) and the Bus Services 
Operating Grant (BSOG – the old fuel duty rebate). These are likely to be rerouted 
via the Regional Transport Consortia from April 2013.  
 

3.17 However, whilst this provides an opportunity to instigate change, it is unfortunate 
that grant levels are at the same time being reduced by 25%, which is expected to 
lead to substantial upheaval in terms of fares increases, deregistration by bus 
operators and fewer council-supported services. It is therefore difficult to see how a 
new integrated ticketing system can be introduced as an additional grant condition 
for some time until financial conditions improve and a more proactive funding 
regime is in place that can be used to encourage and pump prime such initiatives.  
 

3.18 Concerning rail services, it would be absolutely essential that membership of the 
ticketing scheme is a condition of the next Wales rail franchise, promoting greater 
bus integration. This could be further enhanced were the free fare bus pass to be 
extended to the new rail franchise in the off peak.  

 
3.19 However, whilst the concessionary fare scheme has increased demand and 

expectations for longer journey opportunities, requiring integration between 
services, it is going to be increasingly challenging to prioritise and balance meeting 
these with providing for more local requirements. 

 

Tudalen 32



 5 

4. High-quality interchanges 
 
4.1 Public transport interchanges provide a central focus and point of integration for 

public transport services. Changing between bus and rail services is essential to 
complete many journeys by public transport but this can be reduced in a number of 
ways.  

 
4.2 An intervention that would have a benefit to the whole mid Wales region in terms on 

integration between modes, as well as increasing the attractiveness of the service 
itself, would be the long awaited hourly train service on the Cambrian Main Line. If 
the frequency was increased there would immediately be a better natural or organic 
integration (at Welshpool, Newtown, Caersws, Machynlleth, Borth and Aberystwyth), 
which would not require on-going scheduling of connections with the bus services.  

 
4.3 However there is an inherent dislike by passengers of the need to change service 

and/or mode, particularly where it is perceived to be unnecessary. Passengers 
travelling from Brecon to Cardiff prefer to stay on the through bus rather than 
change to rail at Merthyr, though for some shorter journeys the integration of rail 
and bus services for longer journeys is a necessity. One such market that could be 
developed is the Cambrian where there are only 7 stations in around 80 miles. 
 

4.4 The inconvenience that such changes cause compared to a direct journey – known as 
the ‘interchange penalty’, is a factor that works against the shift from private to 
public transport. Our experience suggests that the vast majority of passengers do 
not want to change between modes, but are prepared to make bus / bus 
connections.  
 

4.5 The quality and safety of the facilities provided at interchanges is therefore a key 
influence on the passenger perception of public transport services. It needs to be 
addressed in order to ensure that the negative impact of the ‘interchange penalty’ is 
not further exacerbated. From a passenger point of view interchanges must be 
designed to reflect the three main activities they may wish to carry out there; that 
is to move between one service or mode and another, to wait for their next service 
and to use the time that they spend waiting or transferring to carry out other daily 
activities (such as buying a coffee or newspaper or using a cash machine).  
 

4.6 Key elements of seamless bus/rail interchange include: 

• Good feelings of personal security (through staffing, open layout, good 
lightning), especially outside core hours,  

• Provision of accurate, well-placed, easy-to-use signage and information, 

• High quality waiting facilities, including protection from the elements, seating, 
lighting, toilets, ticket purchase and refreshments. 

 
4.4 High quality interchanges are also always public transport hubs, and as such will also 

help to meet the social, economic and environmental needs of an urban area, 
including: 

• Supporting the continued economic development of the local area and acting as 
a catalyst for socio-economic and physical regeneration in local communities  

Tudalen 33



 6 

• Minimising the need to travel, by concentrating new jobs and homes around 
accessible locations  

• Improving access to facilities and services and providing links between 
neighbourhoods and employment, education and other opportunities  

• Removing barriers which prevent disabled people and others with reduced 
mobility from travelling freely and  

• Creating more attractive buildings and public spaces, improving personal safety 
and security and enhancing the urban realm and creating of a 'sense of place' 

 
4.5 In South East Wales the current picture is decisively mixed. There are 18 bus stations 

in the region ranging from recently rebuilt / modernised ones (e.g. Bridgend, 
Blackwood) to bus stations in dire need of investment (Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil). 
There are also numerous other key interchange points (e.g. rail stations with nearby 
bus services, major crossroads).  
 

4.6 Using grant funding, a number of infrastructure improvements have been made to 
bus/rail interchanges in recent times across North Wales e.g Flint Station, Shotton, 
Rhyl, Prestatyn with a view to facilitating modal shift from one type of transport 
mode to another and improving disabled access. 
 

4.7 Since 2010 Sewta has invested about £2.7m in upgrading interchanges (11% of its 
total available RTP grant). This figure (and the proportion of total funding) is likely 
to increase substantially over the next couple of years as major works are planned 
for Cardiff, Newport, Brynmawr, Merthyr, Abergavenny, Severn Tunnel Junction, 
Chepstow and other locations.  
 

4.8 The development of an Interchange Best Practice Audit has set the standards in 
South East Wales, focussed on strategic opportunities for improved physical 
interchange. The National Transport Plan (NTP) commits the Welsh Government to 
“Create a series of strategic modal interchanges (by 2014)”. This commitment was 
highlighted in the reprioritisation of the NTP in summer 2011 but further 
improvements and expansion of public transport interchanges facilities will require 
substantial capital funding.  
 

4.9 Unfortunately capital funding for regional/local transport schemes in Wales has 
fallen by 79% compared to the 2004/9 average, and as a consequence delivery of 
many of the schemes proposed and developed or under development for some time 
will not be possible for some time. 
 

4.10 Another key issue is integration of interchanges in regeneration schemes. Key 
interchanges must be identified in all city and town centres as a priority, and good 
quality interchange facilities should be required core components of all regeneration 
/ redevelopment schemes, and not as an afterthought. There is a danger that 
transport facilities are overlooked on such schemes, especially if there is no pressure 
from the funding bodies or policy frameworks to provide these facilities. have to be 
provided. It would be good if the NTP could flag up city and town centres as a 
priority for improving interchange, and provide additional transport funding through 

Tudalen 34



 7 

the NTP if needed, to ensure good quality interchange facilities are provided at the 
same time as regeneration. 

 
5. Timetable coordination 
 
5.1 At the most basic level, passenger transport integration means that the routes of bus 

services should be planned in such a way that they call at local stations and meet 
other bus routes, and that their timetables are set so that passengers can 
interchange between rail and bus or bus and bus without lengthy waiting times. 
Public transport integration utterly relies on timetable coordination to function. In 
practice this means all services should be planned as a network, trunk services first, 
with more local services taking account of the area served and the timetables and 
planned accordingly.  
 

5.2 This is the method used in networks commonly seen as highly integrated, such as 
London or most continental European cities. The 1985 Transport Act, the current 
legislative framework for provincial Britain, on the other hand, does not prioritise 
timetable co-ordination in any way, replacing it with a more consultative approach.  
 

5.3 Despite the development of Quality Bus Contracts and statutory Quality Bus 
Partnership schemes, competition policy is still seen as a key deterrent to inter-
operator co-ordination timetabling (and ticketing), though in rural areas, having 
largely tendered services makes it easier for the local authority to create a network. 
This is less necessary in the urban, more populated areas of Wales.  

 
5.4 With all too apparent pressures on budgets and the ongoing changes to commercial 

services the ability to manage and integrate services is going to be increasingly 
difficult and due to other priorities in these difficult times, achieving integration is 
seen by operators as only being of a marginal benefit. Local authority attempts to 
manage the network in these financially constrained times are limited to managing 
rather than raising expectations. Yet in terms of public perception, this is seen as a 
worsening situation, especially when journey opportunities for all manner of needs 
are reduced. 

 
5.5 The 2010-2012 Competition Commission market inquiry into Local Bus Services chose 

to take a strong ideological line based on competition that since 1986 has led to bus 
wars in Britain’s busiest cities at the expense of passengers’ clear preference for 
integrated public transport. ATCO Cymru’s evidence to the Competition Commission, 
with Wales having experienced some of the most damaging bus wars in the late 
1980’s and early 1990’s, was based on the need to delivery co-ordinated competition 
through voluntary partnership arrangements. 
 

5.6 There are a number of well integrated services in South East Wales. But overall 
there is very little timetable integration, and buses often compete with trains. The 
reality is of course that because of the lack of integrated ticketing and the 
availability of through bus services to many of the destinations served by the trains 
connections with trains is currently not a priority for many (existing or potential) 
passengers. 

Tudalen 35



 8 

 
5.7 ATCO Cymru believes that a major factor in the lack of timetable co-ordination is 

the fear of competition issues and possible fines from the Competition Commission. 
It supports the voluntary introduction of more efficient and effective bus networks 
that enable operators, the regional transport consortia and the local authorities to 
work together to ensure the proper planning of a well co-ordinated public transport 
network. It will continue to work in partnership with the operators to this end, and 
the changes emerging from the Bus Funding Review in Wales, though financially 
punitive, are anticipated to increase these partnership opportunities. 
 

5.8 The increased role for the regional transport consortia in managing the distribution 
of bus funding and the development of bus network strategies, will provide the 
context for an overview to be taken of the existing network and the objectives and 
priorities for the network to be determined. Timetable co-ordination is therefore 
likely to feature very strongly in the establishment of a mechanism to implement 
such network strategies, and funding to pump prime their development, rather than 
the proposed cut would be very helpful. 
 

5.9 It should be noted that one of the reasons for the competition between trains and 
buses in many parts of Wales and the limited amount of inter-operator timetable 
integration is the lack of demand. Even with better timetable coordination, demand 
is likely to be constrained as long as there is no ticketing integration, as interchange 
trips would continue to cost substantially more than single-operator trips. The two 
aspects of integration need to be integrated. 

 
6. Integrated public transport information 
 
6.1 The provision of accurate information is essential to delivering integrated public 

transport. The best public transport service will not be used without information, 
signposting its benefits and how to use it. For integrated public transport to work 
the information must show that services are integrated into one network. The 
information must also be consistent, reliable and repeated both throughout a 
journey and throughout the system, in order to remove the hesitancy and the need 
for constant re-assurance when undertaking multi-leg trips. 
 

6.2 The availability of reliable, accurate, accessible and timely information can help to 
improve the image and attractiveness of public transport, and helps to ensure 
journeys involving an interchange are easy and convenient. Good information about 
public transport services enables passengers to know their options and make 
informed decisions, removing uncertainty and increases passenger confidence. 
 

6.3 Public transport information in Wales is inconsistent and often inadequate. Whilst 
some clear high-quality information is produced by Traveline, operators and local 
authorities, there remain considerable gaps. In some parts of the region timetable 
information (both electronic and printed) is patchy and/or of poor quality. Cardiff, 
Denbighshire, Flintshire, Newport and Wrexham all use real time information for bus 
services. The real time data enables passengers to make trips with a high degree of 

Tudalen 36



 9 

confidence but it is not without its issues in terms of electronic displays not working 
from time to time or buses failing to be picked up. 

 
6.4 Fares information is even more limited and too many bus stops display no 

information at all. Even where quality information exists, it is not consistent across 
the region and often difficult to obtain. Integrated public transport information is 
also particular mixed. The Traveline Cymru Journey Planners incorporates all modes 
and provide multi-modal trip suggestions. But too many timetables of bus routes do 
not even make reference to the rail stations served by the very bus routes, too many 
bus stops at railway stations do not even have the same name as the station, and rail 
station information on buses is too often non-existent.  
 

6.5 ATCO Cymru supports consistent high quality standards for public transport 
information provision across the region, for all modes and all services. The National 
Transport Plan also commits the Welsh Government to “Improve the provision of 
effective transport information, including personal travel planning sites and at-stop 
information, by 2011”. 
 

6.6 Working with Traveline Cymru and bus and train operators should enable the 
development of an at-stop bus information programme that includes all modes and 
all types of information necessary for passengers. The identification of existing good 
practice should form the basis to create a consistent standard for all timetable 
brochures, displays, maps, etc, based upon best practice examples, and develop a 
comprehensive and multi-modal regional public transport information strategy which 
will set out the proposals and the delivery arrangements.  
 

6.7 These tasks have some resource implications. Some of the funding of the proposed 
Regional Transport Services Grant may be used for provision of integrated 
information, but in the context of a 25% cut in funding for 2013/14, when compared 
with 2011/12, this is likely to be very limited. Another avenue may be through the 
development of a bus information scheme under the Transport Act 2000, though 
funding to include multi-modal information would be restricted.  
 

6.8 Concerning rail services, it would be helpful if the next franchisee would be required 
to provide high-quality multi-model public transport information. The coordination 
of rail and bus timetables is made difficult, as quite often the local authorities or 
consortia are simply presented with changes to rail timetables. Some authorities in 
north and west Wales have Community Rail Officers, whose roles are to liaise with 
train operating companies, Network Rail, Local Authorities, local businesses, 
educational establishments, community/parish councils, user groups etc. and 
promote the use of the local rail lines, as well as develop publicity and promotional 
campaigns, expand existing markets for the line and develop new ones.  

 
7. Support for integrated public transport policies 
 
7.1 The key factors that limit successful integration can be summarised in three 

categories, legal, administrative and financial. 
 

Tudalen 37



 10

7.2 Despite the changes made in the Transport Act 2000 and the Transport (Wales) Act 
2006, bus services in provincial Britain are still effectively governed by the 1985 
Transport Act, with its emphasis on competition. As a consequence there are severe 
limits of what bus operators can do to integrate services and fares. Local authorities 
are reluctant to take the lead as their primary role is defined as reactionary, leaving 
the commercial network to its own and procuring socially-necessary services that 
would otherwise not operate. 

 
7.3 ATCO Cymru does not believe that Quality Bus Contracts would solve the issues 

described above. We would like to work with the Welsh Government to develop a 
system that enables and facilitates integration through voluntary partnership instead 
of hinders it, and most importantly, puts passengers first. 

 
7.4 Responsibility for supporting of bus services, as it is, currently lies with individual 

councils. Yet passengers do not care about council boundaries. Responsibility for the 
regional rail system lies nationally, yet most rail trips start and end within the 
region. ATCO Cymru has provided a forum for co-operation and mutual aid between 
local authority and for discussions with Welsh Government, users representatives 
and operators.  

 
7.5 Yet more needs to be done to ensure that passengers are faced with a system that 

appears and work seamlessly for them. ATCO Cymru believes this requires further 
collaboration and more integrated working, and its members are currently discussing 
how plans to set regional standards in public transport service delivery are best 
organised. 
 

7.6 The current arrangements and funding levels for funding public transport in Wales 
are not very conductive to delivering proper public transport integration. The 
current proposals to regionalise support for bus services, together with the 
requirement to develop regional bus network strategies, are a step in the right 
direction. However the simultaneous reduction of funding by 25% is a major concern 
that will severely undermine the associated good work that is emerging from the Bus 
Funding Review, as well as the ability to improve integration.   

 
7.7 In terms of capital investment, funding is required to deliver the full package of 

public transport integration that will deliver economic growth and support 
regeneration and accessibility for employment, facilities and services. Integrated 
ticketing as well is likely to require some funding to be developed, to be set up as 
well as start-up financing for the first couple of years while the system beds down.  

 
8. Conclusion 
 
8.1  In evidence-taking sessions, the committee will hear many comments on the bus and 

rail services in Wales, and the integration of public transport services. There will be 
examples on good practice, of which there are many, and there will be examples of 
bad practice. However, the best way to judge what is happening is to stand in the 
street. If you stand in Dumfries Place in Cardiff or at Abergavenny railway station, 
and observe the bus and rail services, then do the same thing in Swansea, Wrexham, 

Tudalen 38



 11

Liverpool or Birmingham, you will see a standard of integration and service delivery 
that is not consistent in quality. On the other hand, if you go to London or virtually 
any city in Spain, Italy, Belgium, France or Germany you will see a standard of 
service that is palpably better than that in Wales and the rest of the UK. That is a 
strong way to judge what is happening, and where we should look to learn about 
well-integrated public transport network.  

 
8.2 Despite the good examples and recent progress, integration within the public 

transport system in Wales is still manifestly worse than in London or equivalent 
conurbations in continental Europe. ATCO Cymru does not believe integrated public 
transport will deliver a well-working high-quality system on its own. But it is a 
necessary and essential ingredient, without which a modern, accessible and 
sustainable transport system that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity for all 
and protects the environment cannot be delivered. 

 
8.3 Because proper full integration of public transport is essential to a well-working 

high-quality system, unless a step-change is achieved in public transport integration, 
the Welsh Government will fail to deliver its vision as set out in the Wales Spatial 
Plan and transport will do less than it should in providing accessibility for all and 
supporting the Welsh Government’s goal of economic growth and jobs. 

 
For ATCO Cymru:   Richard Cope 

  Huw Morgan 
Charlie Nelson 

 Christian Schmidt 
 

16 November 2012 

Tudalen 39


	Agenda
	2 Cynnig i sefydlu is-bwyllgor ar gyfer Rheoliadau Mangreoedd etc Di-fwg (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2012
	Nodyn gweithredol ar gynnig i sefydlu is-bwyllgor ar gyfer Rheoliadau Mangreoedd Di-fwg

	3 Ymchwiliad i Drafnidiaeth Gyhoeddus Integredig - Sesiwn Dystiolaeth
	4 Ymchwiliad i Drafnidiaeth Gyhoeddus Integredig - Sesiwn Dystiolaeth

